STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Hon. Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Judge
Hon. Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Judge

RECEIVED
DEC 14 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-002524

The State Respondent,

vs.

Terrance Edward Stewart Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
S.C. Bar No. 06188
(864) 229-5010

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Statement of Issues on Appeal

Question I: Did the lower courts err in failing to suppress the items seized from the residence of Terrance Stewart when the affidavit for the search warrant was not sufficient and the issuing magistrate had no recall of any of the oral information supplied to her to allegedly supplement the affidavit?

Question II: Did the lower courts err in failing to suppress the items seized from the residence of Terrance Stewart when the magistrate failed to comply with S. C. Code § 17-13-141 as to the records required by the statute to be kept and as a result, Mr. Stewart was prejudiced?

Question III: Did the trial court err in failing to charge the lesser included of offense of possession of heroin with intent to distribute when S. C. Code § 44-53-370 by statute makes possession with intent to distribute a lesser included offense?

Question IV: Did the trial court err in failing to dismiss the charges on the basis the prosecution is prohibited by S. C. Code §44-53-410 which provides a prosecution in State Court is barred if the same act is tried in Federal Court resulting in either a conviction or acquittal when Judge Herlong in federal district court found that Mr. Stewart had committed this same crime when he sentenced Mr. Stewart and enhanced his federal sentence?

Question V: Did the trial court err in charging the jury "The Defendant's knowledge and possession may be inferred when a substance is found on the property under the Defendant's control" when such a charge lessens the burden of proof on the State and is an improper charge on the facts in violation of Article V, § 21 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina?

Question VI: Did the trial court err in instructing the jury "Constructive possession means that the Defendant had dominion and control over either the drugs itself or the property upon which the drugs were found" when such a charge eliminates any *mens rea* of possession of the drugs when found on the property of the Defendant?

Procedural History

The Laurens County Grand Jury indicted Terrance Stewart on June 19, 2015 on the charges of distribution of heroin, trafficking heroin, and possession with intent to distribute oxycodone. On March 28, 2016, Mr. Stewart filed a pre-trial motion to dismiss the case on double jeopardy grounds based on S. C. Code 44-53-410 . The denial of this motion resulted in an interlocutory appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. This appeal was dismissed on September 9, 2016.

The case was tried before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. and a jury on December 13-14, 2016. Mr. Stewart was convicted of distribution of heroin, trafficking heroin and possession of oxycodone. He was sentenced to 25 years for trafficking heroin, ten years for distribution of heroin, and five years for possession of oxycodone. All the sentences are to be served concurrently.

Mr. Stewart filed his Notice of Appeal on December 20, 2016.

Factual History

On June 19, 2015, the Laurens County Grand Jury indicted Terrance Stewart for trafficking in heroin, one count of distribution of heroin and one count of possession of oxycodone with intent to distribute for an incident that occurred on January 22, 2015. On March 25, 2015, Matt Veal, the chief investigating officer in the Laurens County charges testified in United States District Court at the federal sentencing hearing of Terrance Edward Stewart. Rec. on App. at 52.

At this hearing Mr. Matt Veal, the lead investigator, testified as to the facts and circumstances that led to the charges being placed against Mr. Stewart. The Honorable Henry M. Herlong, Jr., after hearing the testimony, ruled that he believed Officer Veal and ruled that Mr. Stewart committed the drug charges in Laurens County. Rec. on App. at 59, ll 10-13; at 66, ll 16-25 to 67, ll 1-15. As a result of the finding that Mr. Stewart had committed the exact same acts for which he was indicted in this case, Judge Herlong departed from the recommended sentence. He did an upward departure and sentenced Mr. Stewart to 145 months in prison.

Prior to the trial in this case, Mr. Stewart filed a Motion to Dismiss the indictment based upon the fact that as the federal judge had found Mr. Stewart guilty of the exact same crime for which he was being prosecuted in the General Session Court for Laurens County, then the prosecution was barred under S. C. Code § 44-53-410. Mr. Stewart filed a Notice of Appeal. This Court subsequently dismissed the case ruling that a plea of double jeopardy is not immediately appealable.

A pre-trial hearing was held on the issue of the validity of the search warrant. This

hearing was held before the Honorable Donald Hocker on July 27-28, 2015. At that hearing, both sides agreed, and the judge so found, that the Affidavit in the search warrant was deficient. Rec. on App. at 171, ll 3-6. As a result, the judge took testimony from the officers involved. The issuing magistrate testified, but she has no recall as to what was told to her by the officers. Rec. on App. at 148, ll 15-18; 85, ll 12-25. Judge Hocker accepted the testimony of the officer who obtained the warrant and found that probable cause had been established Rec. on App. at 543. At the trial of the case, the search warrant issue was renewed by trial counsel. Judge Addy, the trial judge, reviewed the transcript of the suppression hearing and sustained the ruling of Judge Hocker. Rec. on App. at 74, l 17 to 77, l 6; 169, ll 5-10; 173, l 20 to 174, l 2; 397, ll 19-23;

The trial of this case then commenced on December 13, 2016. The State presented the testimony of investigating officers and an undercover informant as to the basic facts of the case. The drugs were found in a home that Mr. Stewart shared with his girl friend, who was the mother of his children. Rec. on App. at 359, ll 17-21. The undercover informant testified that he purchased five small bags of heroin. A subsequent search of the residence found the basis for the trafficking in heroin charge and the possessing with intent to distribute oxycodone.

The jury convicted Mr. Stewart of trafficking heroin, distribution of heroin, and possession of oxycodone. He was sentenced to 25 years for trafficking in heroin, ten years for distribution of heroin, and five years for possession of oxycodone. All sentences were to run concurrently.

Argument

Question I

Did the lower courts err in failing to suppress the items seized from the residence of Terrance Stewart when the affidavit for the search warrant was not sufficient and the issuing magistrate had no recall of any of the oral information supplied to her allegedly to supplement the affidavit?

At the hearing to suppress the evidence seized from the residence of Terrance Stewart, the State conceded, and the trial judge found, the affidavit was not sufficient. Rec. on App. at 112, ll 16-25. The State sought to justify the search based on an oral statement made by Steven Sweat. He testified that he gave the oral statement under oath before the issuing magistrate. This State has long recognized that a written affidavit may be supplemented by an oral statement given under oath. "A search warrant affidavit which itself is insufficient to establish probable cause may be supplemented before the magistrate by sworn oral testimony." *State v. McKnight*, 472, 291 S.C. 110, 113, 352 S.E.2d 471 (1987). No case, however, has addressed the issue of whether the affidavit may be supplemented when the issuing magistrate has no recall as to the information, if any, provided to her. As the probable cause determination is to be made by the magistrate, logic would dictate that what the magistrate heard controls and not what the officer thought the magistrate heard. This issue was brought to the attention of Judge Donald Hocker who heard the motion to suppress. Rec. on App. at 170, ll 12-20. At the hearing counsel argued "And if she's saying she doesn't know, doesn't recall, has no records to establish it, I would, again contend that how then can a reviewing court find that she independently and - - served a - - neutral and

detached issued a proper search warrant” Rec. on App. at 170, ll 15-19.

In this case, no recording or contemporaneous notes were taken of the oral information. Rec. on App. at 102, l 24 to 103, l 10. While he had his case file with him, he does not recall if Judge Tucker asked for the file. He knew he did not leave a copy with her. Rec. on App. at 42, l 11 to 43, l 12. He testified Judge Tucker asked him questions but he does not recall the questions and therefore could not have remembered his answers nor how they impacted a determination of probable cause. Rec. on App. at 121, 12-16. Magistrate Tucker testified she had no recall of who sought the search warrant nor what she was told orally. Rec. on App. at 148, ll 15-18.

The courts have long held that a search warrant can only be issued by a neutral and detached magistrate and the magistrate makes an independent determination of probable cause. As the United States Supreme Court has said:

The point of the Fourth Amendment, which often is not grasped by zealous officers, is not that it denies law enforcement the support of the usual inferences which reasonable men draw from evidence. Its protection consists in requiring that those inferences be drawn by a neutral and detached magistrate instead of being judged by the officer engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime.

Johnson v. United States, 333 U.S. 10, 13-14 (1948)

When the issuing magistrate does not recall the supplemental testimony, then there is simply no basis by which a court could conclude that the magistrate made an independent determination that probable cause existed. While the officer may have thought he had probable cause, that is not the criteria. The probable cause determination, must be made by the neutral and detached magistrate. Here, the only evidence as to what the magistrate was

told comes from one “engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime” - the investigating officer.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has held “In determining the validity of the warrant, a reviewing court may consider only information brought to the magistrate’s attention.” *State v. Gore*, 408 S.C. 237, 247, 758 S.E.2d 717, 722 (2015). Further the Court said “The *magistrate should determine probable cause* based on all of the information available to the magistrate at the time the warrant was issued”. *State v. Gentile*, 373 S.C. 506, 646 S.E.2d 171, 174 (2008)(emphasis added). In the present case, the record does not establish what the magistrate considered in making the probable cause determination. The State has not established that the magistrate heard what was said or if what was said at the hearing was said at the time the warrant was issued. Even the officer testified that the magistrate asked questions but he does not remember what the questions were or what his answers were. The record here simply does not establish what the magistrate understood what the facts were that established probable cause. This case should be reversed with instructions to suppress the evidence seized from the residence.

Question II

Did the lower courts err in failing to suppress the items seized from the residence of Terrance Stewart when the magistrate failed to comply with S. C. Code § 17-13-141 when the magistrate failed to comply with the records required by the statute and as a result, Mr. Stewart was prejudiced?

In *State v. Wise*, 252 S.E.2d 294, 272 S.C. 384 (1979) the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a violation of S. C. Code § 17-13-141 is not a ground for the suppression of

the evidence unless a defendant can establish prejudice. *See also, State v. Sheldon*, 344 S.C. 340, 343 543 S.E.2d 585, 586 (Ct. App. 2001)(“In the context of the application of the exclusionary rule, our supreme court held the exclusion of evidence should be limited to violations of constitutional rights and not to statutory violations, at least where the appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice at trial resulting from the failure to follow statutory procedures.”)

Terrance Stewart can establish prejudice in this case. The code section required the magistrate to keep records of the search warrant she issues. No records were kept. Rec. on App. at 151, ll 2-6. One of the records required to be kept is “(4) Reason for issuing warrant.” This was not done in this case. Had such a record been kept, Mr. Stewart would have known what the officer told the magistrate. He would have known what the magistrate thought she heard. There would have been a written record as to what was said. The failure to keep such a record prejudiced Mr. Stewart in the attempt to establish the warrant was not issued based on probable cause.

Question III

Did the trial court err in failing to charge the lesser included offense of possession of heroin with intent to distribute when S. C. Code § 44-53-370 by statute makes possession with intent to distribute a lesser included offense?

At the trial below, Terrance Stewart requested that the trial court charge the jury that they may convict him of possession of heroin with intent to distribute as a lesser included of trafficking heroin. Rec. on App. at 415, l 13 to 432, l 14. The trial judge at first, upon reading the statute agreed to give the charge. Rec. on App. at 429, ll 5-16. He subsequently

changed his mind and advised the assistant solicitor that he was giving defense counsel “a fairly strong appellate issue if the Court were to decline to give him [defense counsel] what he wants.” Rec. on App. at 431, ll 16-18. Notwithstanding this warning, the assistant solicitor persisted and the trial court declined to charge possession with intent to distribute. Rec. on App. at 432, ll 3-10.

The failure to charge possession with intent to distribute heroin was error. S. C. Code § 44-53-370 provides “The offense of possession with intent to distribute described in Section 44-53-370(a) is a lesser included offense to the offenses of trafficking based upon possession described in this subsection.” This phrase is not ambiguous. The legislature could not have been clearer. Unless this Court is to re-write the statute, the lower court erred.

The section in question does not say “if the weight of the drug is in dispute” possession with intent is a lesser included. There are no exceptions. Nor does it not apply to heroin. It applies to all the trafficking offenses. The provision uses the phrase “offenses of trafficking” which is plural and thus intended to apply to all.

In somewhat similar fashion, the legislature has made simple assault and battery a lesser included offense of attempted murder, regardless of the facts proven at trial. S. C. Code § 16-3-600 E (3) (“Assault and battery in the third degree is a lesser-included offense of assault and battery in the second degree, as defined in subsection (D)(1), assault and battery in the first degree, as defined in subsection (C)(1), assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, as defined in subsection (B)(1), and attempted murder, as defined in Section 16-3-29.” Thus regardless of the facts established, the legislature has determined that simple assault and battery is a lesser included of attempted murder. The same principles

apply in this case. The trial court erred in failing to charge a lesser included of possession with intent to distribute. This case should be reversed.

Question IV

Did the trial court err in failing to dismiss the charges on the basis the prosecution is prohibited by S. C. Code §44-53-410 which provides a prosecution in state court is barred if the same act is tried in federal court resulting in either a conviction or acquittal when Judge Herlong in federal district court found that Mr. Stewart had committed this same crime when he sentenced Mr. Stewart and enhanced his federal sentence ?

Under South Carolina Code § 44-53-410 a prosecution in State Court is barred if the same act is tried in Federal Court resulting in either a conviction or acquittal.¹ In this case there is no dispute that the exact same act upon which the trafficking heroin and the sale of heroin are the same acts tried in federal court when the sentence of Terrance Edward Stewart was doubled because of these acts. The transcript of the sentencing hearing shows that prior to the federal judge enhancing his sentence because of these acts, Mr. Stewart was looking at 72 months in prison. At the federal hearing, Mr. Veal testified as to the facts and circumstances that led to the charges being placed against Mr. Stewart. The Honorable Henry M. Herlong, Jr. after hearing the testimony, ruled that he believed Officer Matt Veal,

¹
“ If a violation of this article is a violation of a Federal law or the law of another state, the conviction or acquittal under Federal law or the law of another state for the same act is a bar to prosecution in this State.” S.C. Code Ann. §44-53-410

the head investigator, and found that Mr. Stewart had in fact committed the drug charges in Laurens County. Rec. on App. at 59, ll 10-13; at 66, ll 16-25 to 67, ll 1-15. As a result of the finding that Mr. Stewart had committed the exact same acts for which he was indicted in this case, Judge Herlong departed from the recommended sentence. He did an upward departure and sentenced Mr. Stewart to 145 month in prison.

As the federal sentencing hearing involved the same charges involved in this prosecution, the only question before the court is whether the findings by Federal District Court Judge Herlong is a conviction within the meaning of the statute. The statute does not contain a definition of the word “conviction.” This Court, therefore, must give the word the meaning that has generally been given by the courts. In South Carolina our Supreme Court has said “Conviction in its legal sense, is the determination of guilt in a criminal prosecution.” *South Carolina State Bd. of Dental Examiners v. Breeland*, 208 S.C. 469, 478, 38 S.E.2d 644, 649 (1946). *See also* Black’s Law Dictionary, Fourth Edition, (1951) “In a general sense, the result of a criminal trial which ends in a judgment or sentence that the prisoner is guilty as charged.” In interpreting a statute, this Court must be guided by the words of our Supreme Court. “When a statute is penal in nature, it must be strictly construed against the State and in favor of the defendant.” *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 342, 713 S.E.2d 278, 283 (2011).

In the present case there has been an adjudication of guilt by Judge Henry Herlong in a criminal proceeding in which witnesses for the government gave sworn testimony. Matt Veal testified as to the charges against Mr. Stewart pending in Laurens County. Rec. on App. at 52. Judge Herlong made a factual finding that Mr. Stewart did in fact commit the

exact same crimes the state tried him on. Rec. on App. at 59, ll 10-13. He used that finding to impose a sentence upon Mr. Stewart by doubling the punishment he otherwise would have received. Rec. on App. at 67, ll 16-20.

The United States Supreme Court in *United States v. Dixon*, 509 U. S. 688 (1993) recognized that the double jeopardy provision applies not just to a criminal trial as such, but a criminal contempt proceeding. The obvious intent of the statute was to prevent a defendant from being punished or tried twice for a drug crime that can be tried in both state and federal courts. This is exactly what has happened here. Mr. Stewart was found guilty of the same charges in federal court. The statute on its face prevents a second prosecution after a conviction. The legislature could have specifically defined the word conviction and limited its meaning and application. The legislature did not. This court, therefore, must give the word the meaning as has traditionally been used in our state and that includes any finding of guilt in a criminal proceeding, which is what happened in this case.

The federal government was well aware of the statute. As the Fourth Circuit noted in 1984, "The government admits that Count Four was dismissed so that pending state charges on the same crime would not be precluded. Code of Laws of South Carolina § 44-53-410 bars state prosecution for the same offense once jeopardy has attached in the federal action." *United States v. Manbeck*, 744 F.2d 360, 371 (4th Cir. 1984). The federal government was not required to use the present charges to enhance the punishment of Mr. Stewart. They elected to use it and preclude the prosecution of the charges in State court.

As Mr. Stewart has in fact been found guilty of the same act in a criminal proceeding in federal court, the State is now precluded from further prosecuting Mr. Stewart. The plain

meaning of S. C. Code § 44-53-410 prevents this prosecution. This case should be reversed and remanded with directions to dismiss this case with prejudice.

Question V

Did the trial court err in charging the jury “The Defendant’s knowledge and possession may be inferred when a substance is found on the property under the Defendant’s control” when such a charge lessens the burden of proof on the State and is an improper charge on the facts in violation of Article V, §21 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina?

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