STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

SEP 20 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002524

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

TERRANCE EDWARD STEWART,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 516
Greenwood, South Carolina 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress evidence discovered in the search of his residence because the supplemental oral information offered by the requesting officer in support of the search warrant affidavit provided a substantial basis upon which the magistrate could conclude there was a fair probability drugs and other incriminating evidence would be found inside the residence.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in failing to suppress items seized from his residence because the affidavit for the search warrant was not sufficient and the issuing magistrate had no recall of any of the oral information supplied to her to supplement the affidavit. While recognizing the longstanding principle that a written affidavit may be supplemented by an oral statement given under oath, Appellant appears to argue that the only competent proof of the substance of the oral supplementation must come from the issuing magistrate's memory, and may not come from the officer who provided the oral supplementation. He contends: "[W]hat the magistrate heard controls and not what the officer thought the magistrate heard." (Brief of Appellant, p.6-p.8). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is entirely without merit.

The duty of the reviewing court is simply to ensure the issuing magistrate had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed under the totality of the circumstances. This review consists of consideration of the information in the search warrant affidavit and the information in any oral testimony presented to the magistrate to supplement the affidavit. Contrary to Appellant's contention, the review does not, and should not, hinge on what the magistrate can specifically remember about his or her decision to issue the warrant, but instead must depend upon what information was brought to the magistrate's attention. State v. Gore, 408 S.C. 237, 247-49, 758 S.E.2d 717, 722-23 (Ct. App. 2014), cert. dismissed as

improvidently granted, State v. Gore, 414 S.C. 577, 780 S.E.2d 261 (2015). Given the affidavit and supporting oral testimony in this case, there was a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed to issue a search warrant for Appellant's residence. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review only errors of law, and it is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 87, 736 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2012), cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 133 S. Ct. 2779 (2013); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. Brown, 401 S.C. at 87, 736 S.E.2d at 265; State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. Brown, 401 S.C. at 87, 736 S.E.2d at 265; State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477-78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011); State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 205-06, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008). The appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829. Thus, when reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm the trial court's ruling if there is any evidence to support it; the appellate court may reverse only for clear error. Brown, 401 S.C. at 87, 736 S.E.2d at 265.

Law / Analysis

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects people from unreasonable searches and seizures and provides that no warrants shall be issued except upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation and particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized. U.S. Const. amend. IV. The South Carolina Constitution provides similar protection against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy. S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. Thus, the touchstone of these provisions is reasonableness. See Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991) (“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.”). A search compromises the individual interest in privacy; a seizure deprives the individual of dominion over his or her person or property. Brown, 401 S.C. at 88, 736 S.E.2d at 266; State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011). The Fourth Amendment itself provides no remedy for a violation of the warrant requirement. Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 231 (2011). However, the United States Supreme Court has fashioned a judicially-created remedy, the exclusionary rule, which is a deterrent sanction by which the prosecution is barred from introducing evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment. Id.; Brown, 401 S.C. at 88, 736 S.E.2d at 266.

A search warrant may issue only upon a finding of probable cause. State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 212, 692 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2009). In South Carolina, an affiant seeking to obtain a search warrant must present a sworn affidavit to a judge presenting grounds sufficient to establish probable cause in order to justify the issuance of the warrant. State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348-49 (1999); see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (“A warrant issued hereunder shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record establishing the grounds for the warrant.”); see also

Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983) (identifying probable cause as “a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found”). Oral testimony may also be used to supplement search warrant affidavits which are facially insufficient to establish probable cause. State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 128, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678-79 (2000); State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 113, 352 S.E.2d 471, 472 (1987). In State v. Williams, this Court explained probable cause as it relates to the issuance of a search warrant:

In order to justify the issuance of a search warrant, probable cause must be shown, but the term ‘probable cause’ does not import absolute certainty. In determining whether there is sufficient evidence to sustain a finding of probable cause, each case stands on its own facts. The evidence need not be sufficient to support a conviction, or a verdict of guilty, or to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; nor need the proof be positive, it being enough if it is such as to induce in the mind of the issuing officer an honest belief that the facts set forth exist, or as would lead a man of prudence to believe that the offense has been committed.

262 S.C. 186, 189, 203 S.E.2d 436, 437-38 (1974) (citation omitted).

In deciding whether to issue a search warrant, the issuing judge must “make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the ‘veracity’ and ‘basis of knowledge’ of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” Gates, 462 U.S. at 238; see Herring, 387 S.C. at 212, 692 S.E.2d at 495-96 (quoting Gates for this proposition). In making the probable cause determination, “[issuing judges] are concerned with probabilities and not certainties.” State v. Sullivan, 267 S.C. 610, 617, 230 S.E.2d 621, 624 (1976). An appellate court reviewing the decision to issue a search warrant should decide whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. Gore, 408 S.C. at 247, 758 S.E.2d at 722. This review, like the determination by the magistrate, is governed by the “totality of the circumstances” test. Jones, 342 S.C. at 126, 536

S.E.2d at 678; Herring, 387 S.C. at 212, 692 S.E.2d at 495. The appellate court should give great deference to a magistrate's determination of probable cause. Jones, 342 S.C. at 126, 536 S.E.2d at 678.

While recognizing the longstanding principle that a written affidavit may be supplemented by an oral statement given under oath, Appellant appears to argue that the only competent proof of the substance of the oral supplementation must come directly from the issuing magistrate and may not come from the officer who provided the oral testimony to the magistrate. He contends: "As the probable cause determination is to be made by the magistrate, logic would dictate that what the magistrate heard controls and not what the officer thought the magistrate heard." (Brief of Appellant, p.6-p.8). Yet, this is an artificial distinction that is not recognized in this State's jurisprudence, likely because it defies logic.

There is no basis for treating oral information differently from written information. The inquiry focuses on what information was brought to the magistrate's attention and whether that information is sufficient to determine whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. Gore, 408 S.C. at 247-48; 758 S.E.2d at 722. In the case of an affidavit the focus is not on "what the magistrate read" as opposed to "what the officer thought the magistrate read" as Appellant's theory would suggest. Instead, the focus is properly on the substantive information in the affidavit, however that information can be shown by the State to the reviewing court. Whether the magistrate has an independent recollection of the information in the affidavit is of no moment because the written affidavit itself supplies that information. Similarly, whether the magistrate has an independent recollection of the information in the oral testimony is of no moment where the testimony offered at the suppression hearing supplies that information. Appellant argues: "When the issuing magistrate does not

recall the supplemental testimony, then there is simply no basis by which a court could conclude that the magistrate made an independent determination that probable cause existed.” Yet there is a basis by which a court could make this conclusion—consideration of the testimony the requesting officer gave to the reviewing court, under oath, which details the testimony he or she gave to the issuing magistrate. We know what information was brought to the magistrate’s attention and we know the magistrate determined it was sufficient to issue the search warrant. This provided an ample basis for the trial court’s review and for this Court to affirm.

Here, the information in the search warrant affidavit coupled with the supplemental oral testimony from the requesting officer provided the issuing judge with a probable cause basis to believe heroin or other incriminating evidence connected to Appellant’s drug dealing would be found in his residence. See Gore, 408 S.C. at 249, 758 S.E.2d at 723 (“Given the affidavit and the supporting oral testimony, we conclude there was a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed to issue a search warrant.”). It reliably established there was a reasonable probability heroin and other incriminating evidence would be discovered in Appellant’s residence; therefore, the issuing judge had a substantial basis upon which to make a finding of probable cause. Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

II.

The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress evidence discovered in the search of his residence because he failed to establish he was prejudiced by the magistrate's apparent failure to follow the statutory procedures in § 17-13-141 regarding the keeping of records related to the issuance of search warrants.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in failing to suppress the items seized from his residence where the magistrate failed to comply with the requirements of S.C. Code § 17-13-141 that she keep a record of the returned search warrant and her reason for issuing the warrant. He contends he was prejudiced by the magistrate's failure to keep these records because it prevented him from knowing what the officer told the magistrate and what the magistrate heard, and as a result, prejudiced his attempt to establish the warrant was not issued based on probable cause. (Brief of Appellant, p.8-p.9). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is without merit because he failed to show he was prejudiced by the noncompliance.

Law / Analysis

The South Carolina Code provides:

(A) Every judicial official authorized to issue search warrants in this State shall keep a record along with a copy of the returned search warrant and supporting affidavit and documents for a period of three years from the date of issuance of each warrant. The records shall be on a form prescribed by the Attorney General and reflect as to each warrant:

....

(4) Reason for issuing warrant.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-141 (2014). At the suppression hearing, Judge Tucker testified that although she did have a copy of the search warrant in her records, she could not find any other records or a log of warrants that were issued. (R.p.145-p.159). Judge Hocker noted that being unable to locate records was not necessarily the same as failing to keep records; nevertheless, he

found that because Appellant could not establish prejudice from Judge Tucker's failure to comply with the ministerial acts in the search warrant statutes, he was not entitled to suppression based on her non-compliance. (R.p.171-p.172).

In the context of the application of the exclusionary rule, the exclusion of evidence should be limited to violations of constitutional rights and not to statutory violations, at least where the appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice at trial resulting from the failure to follow statutory procedures. State v. Chandler, 267 S.C. 138, 226 S.E.2d 553 (1976). Indeed, statutory violations do not warrant the suppression of evidence unless the defendant can show he was prejudiced by the violation. State v. Wise, 272 S.C. 384, 386, 252 S.E.2d 294, 295 (1979). As explained in argument I above, Appellant knew what the officer told the magistrate to supplement the search warrant affidavit because Officer Sweat gave detailed testimony at the suppression hearing describing the testimony he gave to the magistrate. He further testified this testimony consisted of the same information set out in the written incident report Sweat prepared before he appeared before the magistrate, and which he relied upon and referred to when making his sworn testimony to Judge Tucker. This incident report was given to Appellant as part of pretrial discovery well before the suppression hearing. Appellant suffered no prejudice from the magistrate's inability to locate the records described in section 17-13-141 of the Code because, at the time of the suppression hearing, he knew the substance of the information the State gave to the magistrate when requesting the search warrant. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

III.

The trial court properly declined Appellant's request to charge the jury on possession with intent to distribute heroin as a lesser included offense of trafficking in heroin because no evidence was presented at trial from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in failing to charge possession of heroin with intent to distribute as a lesser included offense of trafficking in heroin when § 44-53-370 of the Code makes it a statutory lesser included offense. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is entirely without merit. No evidence was presented at trial from which the jury could infer that the lesser included offense of PWID, rather than trafficking, was committed. The trial judge properly declined to charge PWID heroin and Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

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